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DEDICATION 

almost two decades, The Cedar Tree Press had the privilege of 

~o~ a New Year's remembrance book for William Winder "Chick" 

printing ·t Wh'l · d di'. . d' 'b · 
. d and members of his fam1 y. 1 e inten e 1or private 1stn uuon to 
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these hist0rical vignettes. 
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those brief pictures of history, we felt that it would be a fitting 

remembrance to dedicate this book to his memory. 
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PREFACE TO THE SECOND EDITION 

When we at Cedar Tree Press decided to begin publishing a series of 

historical studies of the Wilmington area, it was intended to be solely for 

distribution to our cuswmers each year during the holiday season. 

However, we did not take into account the popularity of our first subject 

and quickly ran out of copies for free distribution. 

Ar. the urging of friends we are reprinting our Rockford Tower for 

limited sale throughout Delaware. 
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BYWAY OF INTRODUCTION 

Wilmington, Delaware is a location rich in heritage and history with 

many fascinating areas taken for granted by those of us who were born 

here or have lived in this area for a long period of time. Coupled with the 

recent rapid growth in the area, the percentage of natives vis-a-vis 

newcomers has certainly decreased in the past decades adding to the list 

of people who wonder how or why a certain thing is the way it is. Even 

chose who are somewhat knowledgeable about our environs can learn 

much from a definitive study of a particular point of interest. 

It was with these facts in mind that I decided last year to change our 

ten-year tradition of reproducing a painting of a historical area of the 

Wilmington or New Castle County region. If a picture is indeed worth a 

thousand words, then a few thousand words and many pictures should be 

much more descriptive and informative. I think you will find that, at least 

in this instance, this i&tiue. 
1 

I have attempted to combine-the o ld and the new in both the subject of 

the book and in the printing processes used in its production. We have 

used a typeface designed many years ago but recently modernized for 

today's high-speed photocomposition equipment and lighter styles. The 

paper used was made by a forward-looking company but on older 

equipment that produces primarily high-quality text grades. TI1e book is 

sewn and case bound by a firm that was established in 1892, on up-to-date 

equipment. Additional facts about the production process can be found in 

the Colophon. 
The subject is also a combination of the old and new. Tracing the 

history of an object through research and photographs affords us with the 

opportunity to see or be apprised of changes that have been made either 

visible or concealed. The tower looks much the same today as it did when 

it was built and serves today in the same capacity as then: the primary 

source of water for thousands ofWilmingtonians. It has, however, as you 

will read, changed. Perhaps the saddest of these changes is its inacces­

sability. Because of the threat of vandalism, the tower is kept locked, 

thereby precluding people from climbing it. 

ix 

Nicholas L Cerchio Ill 

Wilmington, October 1990 
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ROCKFORD TOWER 

So LID and serene, a massive stone tower stands on Mount Salem 
Hill in Wilmington's Rockford Park, a beloved yet slightly puzzling 
landmark. Rockford Tower appears to be both ancient and useless, 
but it is neither. Under the stonework stands a 500,000 gallon steel 
tank that has been a vital part ofWilmington's water system since its 

completion in 1901, no~,even a centmy apo. 
In the late nineteenth centuiy, ~ Wilmington was a thriving, 

growing city. Its population grew from around 30,000 in 1870 to 
over 76,000 in 1900. Nearly half of its workers were employed in 
manufacturing, the source of the city's prosperity. Heavy industries, 
located mainly on the banks of the Christina River, produced a wide 
variety of goods for local, national, and international markets. 
Leather, railroad cars, foundries and machine shops, and iron and 
steel were 'the four leading industries in 1900. 

The development of the trolley car allowed Wilmingtonians to 
move to new neighborhoods fa1ther from the city's center. The area 
surrounding Rockford Park, known as the Highlands, was annexed 
to the city in the 1890s. This neighborhood's need for water led to 
the construction of Rockford Tower. 

Wilmington has had a public water supply since 1804, when the 
Wilmington Spring Water Company began to circulate spring water 
through wooden pipes to cisterns where customers pumped water 
by hand. In 1810, the city purchased the company and assumed 
~esponsibility for water. As Wilmington grew, springs proved 
inadequate. In 1827, the city began to pump water from the 



fdE.?11c;,.J r·, w-,T&lf\ Tow ti\ 
,,.J f\ocf\f&'\Q ~'\'\'{ 

El•·., .. ,,-• ., ef ,.,•p•uJ w. 1o., '"•- •• ;,. R••"-'••" P-oa,ai 

i• • • ... ;,. +i . . .. ,,. ..... .:,. , - :n, .... . ►.,,• t·-••,. ,.:.,o1 
a,.,.,_;,., j+;,.1, ah .... ;.,, l'I• .,, . , ,., fo t,,.,h,, •••II' 
,,._ , ..... 4;,,._ .; .. ,,., ..... ..... ,. .,.,.,. ~ . ........ , ... , 
f•.,"••I.,,. , . .. , , ,, tot>• ,. .. ~i. ,.,,.,.., •• - •t., h'''­
••- •"~I• •l "4' ,., a ; .. , .. ,~, ,., • ..,;,., a1,t ,.0 .,,.. _,. . .... 

lt.+•I f••• ._..,.,,..., -:u, • , .. ,.;, A tOI"'-

~ 

Theodore R. Leisen, the engineer for the park department, completed 
this preliminary drawing ofRockford Tower in May 1899. The rounded 
door, long narrow windows, and arches at the top give an antique, 
European appearance. (Courtesy of the Department of Public Works, 
City of Wilmington.) 
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. River to homes and public cisterns. Over the years, the 
sraod~ 1: ~d storage capacity gradually expanded. In 1871, the first 
purnP' g h 'ch statistics are available, the system pumped a total of 

Year for w 1 h b · d f: · 
000 

gallons to 5,358 omes, usmesses, an actones. By 
551,23

9
2
0
' the water system consisted of a pumping station on the 

the 18 s, d ine at the foot of the Market Street Bridge, the Rodney 
sran ~servoir and the Cool Spring reservoir and pumping station 
Street re , Tenth Street. A filtration device to remove pollution was 
~:Stalled in 1892, but it proved unsuccessful. The city also installed 

wer system during the 1890s. 
a s~e Board ofWater Commissioners faced two major problems in 
the 1890s. One was the tremendous growth in the demand for 
water. In 1890, the system pumped 2,533,314,586 gallons to 12,008 
customers. Average p) r capita use was 111 gallons per day, up from 

81 gallons in 1880. . _) . 
The other problem was geographic. As the city expanded into 

higher lands to the north and west, the system had to provide 
satisfactory water pressure. Beginning in 1892, the water depart­
ment erected towers in the Rodney Street reservoir and on Elliott 
Avenue, with a combined capacity of 50,000 gallons. These proved 
inadequate, however, especially for the Highlands. More needed to 
be done: The water commissioners decided to erect a large tower 
on high ground, which is how Rockford Park enters the story. The 
creation ofRockford Tower also shows, in a small way, Wilmington's 
involvement in some of the major trends and issues of the times. 

In the years after the Civil War, America developed rapidly in a 
burst of unrestrained capitalism and individualism. Some hardy 
souls settled the vast expanses of the West, while others developed 
the nation's industrial might. Profit was the driving force, with little 
c~ncern for anything else. In industrial cities - like Wilmington -
this meant air and water pollution, squalid living conditions for the 
poor, and unplanned growth. Government was expected to be 
cheap and not interfere with the pursuit of wealth. 
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Rockford Tower 

This p icture of Rockford Tower under construction gives a sense of the tower's size. The 
door has been installed, but most of the stonework has not yet reached that height. 
Scaffolding is visible at the far right. (Courtesy of the Historical Society of Delaware.) 
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Yet even as development proce~ded without restraint, a growing 

b 
. of people began to question the status quo. TI1ey saw that 

num er 
•1derness would not last forever. They lamented the poor 

the W1 
uality of mass-produc~d g~ods. An~, tl;ey_ ~ecame _desperat~ly 

q e ·ned about conditions m the nation s c1t1es. Valumg rural life 
cone 1 
, the source of the nation's greatness, earl ier generations of 
:

1
ericans had generally ignored their cities. Now, in the 1880s and 

18
90s, they finally turned their attention to urban problems. 
And problems there were in great abundance. A special concern 

was the plight of facto1y workers, who lived in densely crowded, 
ditty housing in neighborhoods that lacked good schools and 
recreational faci lities. Long hours, low wages, and the lure of the 
saloon threatened family life . Such conditions offered little 
oppoitunity for a better standard of living. Reformers hoped that 
such amenities as playground;,, parks1 public utilities, and settle· 
ment houses would improve both the environment and the quality 

of people's lives. 
The reformers wanted the city to be beautiful as well. Well-

designed public structures would promote a sense of harmony and 
develop feelings of civic pride and loyalty. And, the reformers 
believed that government should play a major role in reaching 
these goals in an orderly fash ion. America's cities could no longer 
be left to develop on their own. 

Rockford Park - and the entire Wilmington park system - owes 
its beginnings to the eff01ts of William P. Bancroft, a Quaker 
industrialist and philanthropist who firmly believed in the need for 
both parks and city planning. As early as 1881, he offered to buy and 
donate the land that became Rockford Park His dream became 
reality in 1889when the Wilmington Board of Park Commissioners, 
ofw_hich he was a member, accepted Bancroft's gift of the majo r 
po111on of Rockford Park. In 1895, the d u Pont family donated 
nearly ten additional acres to the park, with the restriction that no 
building open to the public be erected in a certain area, for fear of 
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Rockford Tower 

~:wwater depar~m~nt commissioned this etching by Wilmington artist, Robert 
T , .m ll 90d2. Thk1s view proved ve1y popular, and no doubt helped make Rockford 

owe1 a an mar . (Cedar Tree Press Collection.) 
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being held liable in case of an explosion at their powder mills. 
In 1899, the need of the water commissioners creatively fused 

with the dreams of the park commissioners. Mount Salem Hill in 
Rockford Park, some 330 feet above sea level and the highest point 
in the city, provided the necessary elevation for the new water 
cower. The park commissioners agreed to the water department's 
request to use the site because it allowed them to realize one of 
their goals for the park. Since 1895, they had hoped to erect an 
observatory on the hill so that people could enjoy the view, and the 
water tower offered the perfect opportunity. The park commis­
sioners required that the water tower be designed to include an 
observatory. And, they also stipulated that the tower should be 
designed to complement the surroundings and be an asset to 

Rockford Park. , 
Actually, it was not that simple.--Th~ best site for the tower was on 

land over which the du Pont family exercised its restrictions. In 
early May 1899, the family decided that the tower with an 
observatory would be acceptable only if the city agreed to assume 
liability for injury to persons or property at the tower in case of an 
explosion. On May 17, the newspaper confidently - and wrongly 
- predicted that city council would soon approve this arrangement. 
But the city was afraid of being sued, and in mid July formally 

rejected the proposal. 
This action, a mere month before work on the tower began, 

angered the editor of the Every Evening, who wrote a lengthy 
editorial in favor of the water tower with an observatory open to the 
public. The final paragraphs of the editorial summarize the urban 
reformers' position on this and similar issues: 

Utility is not everything in this life. The aesthetic and the 
beautiful appeal to people, and are as necessary to existence as 
food and water. The City Council can do much to gratify this taste, 
which is as marked among people in the lower walks of life as 



Rockjord Tower 

This view from the late 1950s shows Rockford Tower with the statue of Admiral Samuel 
Francis Du Pont in the foreground. Admiral Du Pont ( 1803-1865) was a Union naval hero 
in the Civil War. His statue, done by Launt Thompson in 1884, originally stood in Du Pont 
Circle in Washington, D.C., but was moved to Rockford Park in 1920. (Courtesy of the 
Historical Society of Delaware.) 
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among those who enjoy wealth and plenty, by granting the 
desired indemnity and thus securing the erection of the water 
tower and observatory on the site best adapted to the purpose. 

Anything that tends to the enjoyment of people who cannot 
afford to travel, and therefore have to depend upon the 
attractions offered by the place of their abode should be 
promptly availed of by our local legislators.1 

This voice of support did not change the reality of the situation. The 
water commissioners decided to build the tower as planned, but 
the observatory would not be open to the public. 

Theodore A Leisen, the engineer for the park department, and 
the Philadelphia architectural firm of Baker and Dallett designed 
Rockford Tower. Leisen- (b. 1864), a civil engineer, worked for 
various citydepartfl)ents between 18_91 and 1907, when he moved 
to Kentucky. He wrote the-park department's report for 1895 in 
which the observatory was first described. Baker and Dallett 
consisted of Louis C. Baker,Jr. ( 1859-1915), and Elijah]. Dallett,Jr. 
who began their careers with Frank Furness before forming their 
own partnership in 1888. They had a number of commissions in 
Delaware in addition to Rockford Tower. 

Rockford Tower consists of a steel water tank, 40 feet in diameter 
and 60· feet high, enclosed in rugged rock, with an observato1y at 
the top. The rock was intended to be useful as well as picturesque, 
for it helped to prevent the water from freezing and thus damaging 
the tank. One door provides access to the 132-step staircase that 
leads to the top. Long narrow windows, 16 feet high by 2 feet wide, 
light the way. Columns and arches support the pointed roof and 
provide openings through which to view the surrounding country­
side. Lion's head downspouts ornament the roof, while a sundial 
graces one side. The bottom diameter of the tower is 57 feet, 
tapering to 52 feet at the top. The total height of the tower is about 
115 feet. 
1 E/Jery Evening (Wilmington), July 17, 1899 . 
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Rockford Tower 

Rockford Tower by Paul Scarborough. An original watercolor done 1984 with the statue 
of Admiral Du Pont in the foreground. (Cedar Tree Press Collection.) ' 
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Perhaps the most striking feature of Rockford Tower's design is 
its appearance of great age. It looks today as though it has always 
been there, and it looked much the same when it was brand new. 
This was deliberate. Indeed, the park depa1tment's repott for 1895 
said that a tower built of rough stone "could with a little care, be 
given an antique appearance in a ve1y short time, and a growth of 
English ivy could still further enhance the effect. "2 

The appeal of the ancient is another aspect of the spirit of the late 
nineteenth century. As people pondered the problems of society, 
many looked to the past for values and ideals. While social 
reformers believed that wooded, natural parks would help cure 
society's ills, architects found inspiration in designs and styles from 
earlier times. So, in 1899., _Wilmington chose to clothe its water 
tower - an example 9f modern technology and a symbol of urban 
growth - in an ancient-look-ing case. In contrast, by the 1930s, 
people gloried in progress and technology. The frontispiece of the 
water department's report for 1936-37 proudly shows a utilitarian 
water tower painted with markings to guide airplanes. 

The construction of Rockford Tower, which took two years, 
began in late August 1899 and cost $76,281.07. The job required 
hard physical labor, provided by employees of the water 
depa1tment. All of the Brandywine granite for the tower, in shades 
of brown and gray, came from within the park. Some was easily 
recovered from stone wal Is left from earlier farms, while much of it 

had to be quarried. 
The first step was to build the foundation and the ve1y lowest 

po1tion of the tower. Then the 500,000 gallon, 6,000 ton steel tank, 
built by the Edge Moor Bridge Works ofWilmington, was installed. 
The tank rested on heavy steel girders set into the foundation 10 
feet from the ground. The steel plates for the bottom of the tank 
were 5/ 8 of an inch thick. The s ides of the tank were rings of steel 
plates 5 feet high and 21 feet long, ranging in thickness from 9/ 16 of 
2Neport of !he Board of Park Commissioners of \flilmington, Del., 1895, p. 47 
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Flower Market is a Rockford Park institution. This picture from May 1953 shows children 
riding a miniature train. The first Flower Market was held in 1921 and took place in Cool 
Spring and other city parks. Its intent was to raise money for Associated Charities. By 1952, 
the Flower Market had grown so large that only Rockford Park could accommodate it, and 
it has been held there ever since. ( Courtesy of the Historical Society of Delaware.) 
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an inch at the bottom of the tower to 1/ 4 inch at the cop. It took 6 
p lates to go around the circumference of the tank. The total he ight 
of the tank was 60 feet. Edge Moor also made the steel stairway that 
Jed to the top of the tower. 

After the tank was completed in July 1900, work on the tower 
continued . Workers continued to quarry stone and build up the 
rower, erecting ever-higher scaffo lding as they went. The mo1tar 
was recessed two inches to give the appearance of age. The tower 
was lined with 50,000 white glazed bricks, provided by Charles 
Warner Company of Wilmington. J S. Thorn and Company of 
Philadelphia provided the copper roof and Charles P. Bancroft won 
the contract for the railings and grill work. 

Preparations also had to be made to fit Rockford Tower into the 
water system. In 1899, a twelve-inch water main was laid to the 
tower from Sixteenth Street-ancl, Greenhill Avenue. The overflow 
pipe from the tower connected with the drain on the park driveway. 

A new pump had to be installed at Cool Spring to pump water up 
to Rockford Tower. The water department purchased a pump 
capable o f handling three million gallons a day from the Snow 
Steam Pump Works of Buffalo . And, the new pump d id not fit into 
the existing building, so an addition had to be built onto the Cool 
Spring pump house. 

As early as August 1900, just after the tank itself was completed, 
tests showed that it would provide excellent water pressure in the 
Highlands. It was put into fu ll setvice the next year. Water was 
pumped up to Rockford Tower from Cool Spring and then it went 
down by force of gravity to reach people's houses. 

In 1901, the fi rst year for which there are statistics for Rockford 
Tower, it circu lated 10,267,499 gallons of water. That year, per 
capita use in Wilmington was 93.4 gallons per day. Ten million 
gallons might seem like a large amount, but it is not when 
compared with what was to come as the area developed and the per 
capita use of water increased. In 1925-26, 316,859,000 gallons went 
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Rockjord Tower 

Rockford Tower keeps watch over a quiet moment at the Flower Market of 1958. ~it.h i~s 
varied attractions, the Flower Market today raises many thousands of dollars for ch1ldien 5 

charities in Wilmington. (Courtesy of the Historical Society of Delaware.) 
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through the tower. By then, daily use had increased to 123 gallons 
per capita. Another quarter century later, 718,460,000 gallons 
circulated through the tower in 1950-51. Per capita daily use was up 
to 150.8 gallons. Usage grew to 888,094,000 gallons in 1975-76, 
when per capita daily use was 179 gallons. Today, about 4 million 
gallons of water pass through Rockford Tower daily. 

Rockford Tower has always served the western part ofWilmington 
and its suburbs. In the very early years, only a few people received 
their water from the tower. Continuing development in the area, 
however, proved the wisdom of the tower's site and size. In the 
years before World War II, workers' housing owned by Joseph 
Bancroft & Sons, new housing in Wawaset Park and Westover Hills, 
and the new Du Pont Experirµental Station increased the demand 
on Rockford Tower. . 

Development continued after1 World 'War II. Today Rockford 
Tower's service area extends as far a; the Ferris School. The 1980s 
were a time of rapid growth in the area, with new houses, new 
shopping areas, and new Du Pont Company facilities at Barley Mill 
and Chestnut Run increasing the need for water from the tower. 

As the use ofRockford Tower increased, the pumping facilities at 
Cool Spring were improved and enlarged, but the tower itself 
seems to have required - and received - very little attention. The 
first record of major maintenance does not come until the mid 
1950s, when it was badly needed. The rivets and seams on the tank 
were reinforced and the tank was repainted with bright aluminum 
paint instead of black, to give more light on the stairway. At this 
time, the stairway, windows, and entrance were repaired, and 
damage from pigeons and vandals was cleaned up. The roof was 
restored in 1972-73. 

By the mid 1970s, the water department knew that Rockford 
Tower needed major repairs. This was a major undertaking because 
water services had to continue while Rockford was out of service. 
The Greenhill Avenue Tower, also with a capacity of 500,000 
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This picture, probably from the 1920s or 1930s, shows the spectacular 
view from Rockford Tower towards the Delaware River. In the foreground 
are Rockford Park and some o f the large, comfottable houses in the 
neighborhood. The creation of Rockford Park, Bancroft Parkway, and 
Kentmere Parkway made the Highlands a highly desirable residential area. 
(Courtesy of the Historical Society of Delaware.) 

This aerial view from the early 1950s shows Rockford Tower and its 
neighbor, the Du Pont Experimental Station. As the Experimental Station 
unde1went major expansion in the years after World War II, people 
climbed to the top of Rockford Tower to watch its progress. Rockford 
Tower began to supply water to the Experimental Station around 1937. 
( Courtesy of the Historical Society o J Delaware.) 
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11 
was built in the early 1980s. The water depaltment also 

f~il~::~mpora1ywatertower in the park in 1981. Only then did the 
work on Rockford Tower begin. In 1983 and 1984, the entire 

. . of the cower was reconstructed. The old tank, which had 
intenor , .. 
deteriorated badly, was ripped out. fhe p1pmg under the tower was 
. done the foundation for the tank was replaced, and a new tank, 
::eps, ~d obse1vatory platform were i~st_alled. Cleaning up after 

igeons was again a major chore, and this time the observatory area 
~as securely screened to keep them out in the future. With this 
renovation, done at a cost of about $700,000, Rockford Tower 
stands ready to se1ve Wilmington's water system for many more 

years co come. 
Yet Rockford Tower was intended to be, and became, much 

more than simply a 1,1tilitarian facility. Even though the city had 
refused to sign the agreement with the du Pones in 1899, the dream 
of opening the tower to the p ublic did not die. At first, those who 
wanted to go up in the tower had to obtain a special permit from the 
water department. A large number of permits was issued in 1902, 
admittedly with some annoyance to both the clerk issuing the pass 
and the person requesting it. This difficulty of access, however, may 
have made the tower more fascinating than if it had been open 
without restriction. 

Effo11s to reach an agreement between the city and the du Pont 
family continued intermittently, and eve1ything finally came 
together in the latter part of 1903. In that year, the Delaware General 
Assembly passed a law allowing such an arrangement. As in 1899, 
the newspaper predicted on October 9, 1903 that the city council 
would vote for the agreement at its next meeting. Again the 
newspaper was wrong. After much debate, focusing again on the 
possibility ofan avalanche oflawsuits in case of an explosion at the 
powder mills, council decided to delay the vote. The next week, 
after several councilmen visited the tower and assured themselves 
that the danger of explosio ns and lawsuits was remote, city council 



Rockford Tower 

Dating from around 1905, this postcard shows Rockford Tower in an austere 
winter setting. (Courtesy of the Historical Society of Delaware.) 
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This photograph ofRockford Tower was taken on September 19, 
1990. (Photo by John R. Schoonooer.) 
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Rockford Tower 

Detail of Rockford Tower, September, 1990. (Photo byjohnR. Schoonover.) 
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finally passed a resolution authorizing the mayor to sign the 

necessary agreement. 
Easily reached by streetcar, Rockford Tower became a popular 

destination. On Sundays in May 1904, an average of nearly 600 
eople climbed the stairs to enjoy the view. Rockford Tower 

~emained open without interruption until World War II, when it 
was closed for security reasons - it was feared that the enemy 
might harm the water supply. Since the end of the war, the tower 
has been open and closed at various periods depending on its 
condition and safety, and on financial considerations. 

Over the years, Rockford Tower has remained a constant 
landmark in a park that has changed to meet new recreational 
needs. By 1910, active spmts like baseball and football shared the 
park with sedate picnJcs and strolls. To_day, people picnic, sunbathe, 
play tennis, and walk their dcgs_y,rithin sight of the tower. 

Rockford Park has served the community in many ways. It has 
been the site of day camps, Easter egg hunts, Easter sunrise services, 
spo1ts events, concerts, and fireworks displays. But the event most 
strongly associated with the park and the tower today is the Flower 
Market, held annually in May to raise money for charity. It has taken 
place in Rockford Park since 1952, attracting thousands of people 
every year. 

Through an undefinable chemistry, this structure designed to 
provide water for one area and adorn one particular park has 
become a symbol for an entire city. Wilmington's park com­
missioners and water commissioners did their work well when 
they built Rockford Tower . 
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